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BEULAH HOME

As early as February 1931, the deaconess, Miss Boyle drew attention to the need to provide for the elderly and aged. ‘I feel’ she said, ‘that we should make this a special matter of prayer that in the near future there may be granted to us a little Eventide Home, where we could put our aged sisters, who have no relatives, that they may have comfort, happiness and Christian fellowship during the eventide of their lives.’ It was 15 years later before the deacons’ court took up the challenge, then presented by John McGuinness. How he came to do that is told in his own words, below, but some other data needs to be examined as well. 

The fund, to purchase a retirement home, was started at a public meeting in the Chapel on 6 December 1947.  This was followed by a series of fundraising events, monthly throughout the autumn, winter and spring.  The usual pattern was for an invited choir to sing in the Chapel on the first Saturday of the month, together with an invited speaker.  The first such meeting, in January 1948, raised £46 and attracted a subsequent gift of £100. The February meeting raised £42, the May meeting £50, and then there was a break for the summer.
  

Resuming in September 1948 with the Newhaven Fisherwomen’s Choir, then the Falkirk Male Voice Choir, the programme continued monthly and in December the Chapel’s own choir gave a Christmas concert.  By March 1949, the appeal had raised £505 in 15 months, and the target, to purchase property, was set at £5,000.
  The Chapel choir sang again at Christmas 1949 and monthly concerts followed. By early 1951, £3,000 had come in.  A whole weekend of 10/11 June 1951 was given over to the project, and the total gifts over the weekend were £530. It was not, however, all encouraging – the October 1951 rally was ‘poorly attended’.  However, to make up for that, the December rally brought in £110.  The £4,000 mark was passed in September 1951.
 

When the £5,000 was realised, the committee asked the deacons to move the programme forward to the next stage.
  The decision was taken that there was not enough in hand, nor the prospect of it, to start a new building from scratch, so they began to look for an existing building to adapt.  It began to come together at a specially convened meeting of the deacons on 29 April 1953.  John McGuinness recommended scaling down the project and dispensing with outside finance.  He recommended a Home for 10 to 12 residents, with a staff of 3 living in. This meant raising the target to £6,000 (later raised to £7,000), to include both property and furnishings.  Charges were to be 42 shillings a week, or more if the individual could afford it, as average running costs were reckoned to be about 50–55 shillings per head per week. Any deficit would be met from legacies or other sources.  The additional capital, over the existing £5000, was to be obtained by holding a ‘Beulah Week-end’ before the summer of 1953, with all the offerings going to the Home. The proposals were approved and the Beulah Homes Committee was authorised to start looking for a suitable property.

A house in West Mayfield seemed to be ideal, but it was too expensive and after a survey, this proposal was not pursued. The Beulah Committee came back, in November 1953, with a recommendation to bid for a house at 5 South Lauder Road, but the deacons took cold feet at the work involved and the proposition did not attract sufficient votes.

As the search for a suitable building continued, the Inland Revenue ruled that the project was not, in their view, a ‘charitable object’, and that the income on the fund would need to be taxed. Provision for old age was not in itself charitable, but only old age coupled with inadequate means. Mr. Urquhart was able to devise a form of wording which satisfied all concerned.

By 1954, the ‘Beulah Homes (still plural, everywhere) Weekend’ had an established and prominent place in the Chapel calendar. For Sunday and Monday 25 and 26 April 1954, there was a distinguished guest preacher, and on the Monday the elders were in the vestry from 2 p.m. until the start of the evening rally at 7.30 p.m., when a ‘considerable’ sum was received. After tea in the Lower Hall, there was a full evening programme in the church – music, reports, a sermon, votes of thanks, etc., and a full-page report in the Record. The £245 given over the weekend brought the total to £5,900.
 At the deacons' meeting on 3 November 1954, the Declaration of Trust was approved.

The number of special events increased, with the indefatigable Mr McGuinness outlining his vision. There was a special Thursday evening meeting in September 1954, a Christmas Carol service, and then a weekend in February 1955, at all of which offerings were taken for the project. By the spring of 1955, £6,488 was in hand, and this was deemed to be sufficiently near to the £7000 to begin looking again for actual property. A Social in 1955 topped the £7000 figure.

The present Home, at 134 Newhaven Road, was identified by the Beulah Homes Committee in the spring of 1955. They asked for a special meeting of the deacons on 25 May 1955, and persuaded the deacons to put in an offer of £4000. They reported that it was suitable from every aspect – ideally situated with a well-kept large garden and overlooking Victoria Park, in excellent condition and well appointed for the purpose. It had three public rooms, five bedrooms, one large kitchen, and the annex and conservatory could accommodate 14 old people comfortably, plus staff. There was a garage for four cars, which could be let in the meantime to provide additional income. The house was known as Beaufort, and it was owned by Bailie Gerrard and his wife. They were delighted at the proposed use of their home, and not only reduced the price, because of the nature of the work to be carried on there, but they also planted the front garden with new antirrhinums and asters as a gift. Entry was taken on 13 August 1955, after which the Chapel set about renovation and adaptation.
  The Chapel held a Christmas concert in 1955 to raise funds for Beulah.

Renovation took longer than anticipated, because the Dean of Guild insisted on an external fire escape being built. As the work proceeded, the expense mounted beyond the original estimate, to about £2,300. This was due to the unexpected requirement to install the fire escape, and also to build a brick boiler house, with the extra demolition and painting work which this involved.

In October 1955, Miss Innes, a member of the Chapel and an experienced hospital sister, offered to become the matron of the Home. The office-bearers were delighted to have such a suitable and well-qualified applicant, and the deacons accepted with alacrity on 2 November. Salary was £400 per annum, less £150 for board. On 1 January 1958, the salary was increased by £50, in recognition of her excellent work. Another member of the Chapel, Miss Deuchars, was appointed in 1956 to assist with the housework.

The opening date was set for Saturday 30 June, with a dedication by the pastor and then a formal opening performed by Mrs Griffiths. Distinguished guests were invited to bring greetings but the occasion was to be a ‘Chapel at-home’. A marquee was erected on the lawn, and the weekend of the opening was designated as the Annual Beulah Homes (still plural) Thank Offering. The weather, which had been threatening, was fine for the opening ceremony at 3 p.m.  Crowds filled the carriageway and the street outside – see the photograph in Chapter 39 – and over 300 attended.  The ceremony began with singing the 23rd Psalm, and then Gerald Griffiths dedicated the Home in prayer. Mr McGuinness presented a specially prepared key to Mrs Griffiths, who gave a little speech and then opened the front door.  The crowd sang the Doxology together, and then went to the marquee to the rear, to find seats for the service to follow.  The crowd filled the garden and every other available area, with the service relayed by loudspeakers. Tea was then served, and the Sunday and Monday evening services continued the Thankoffering theme.

At their meeting on 4 July, that is a few days after the Home was opened, the deacons instructed the Beulah Homes Committee to think about a name for the property, recommending that the existing name, ‘Beaufort’, should be changed to ‘Beulah’.
 The first four residents were soon in occupation. The first death was on 13 October, an 83-year old lady who had joined the Chapel in 1907. The first Christmas was celebrated by the Griffiths’ family and the McGuinness’ family calling to conduct family worship, followed by Santa Claus and then a turkey dinner for the residents. The Home was open during the afternoon, when 40 friends called with presents. 

The Application Form was a single sheet of paper, with the top half giving the under-noted details; the bottom half was to be torn off and returned. All it asked was for the name and address of the applicant, date and place of birth, occupation, and marital status, nearest relatives, ‘Can you pay 84/- per week’ and whether the applicant had contributed to National Insurance. The information given was that the Home was for elderly persons, of both sexes, in full membership of the Chapel for at least two years. The basic charge was 84/- per week (less for those with capital under £150.)
 Residents had to be at least 60 years of age on admission. A medical certificate of health was required, and only those able to go up and down stairs unaided, and to dress and feed themselves, were admitted. Residents were expected to keep their room tidy. The staff would periodically clean the rooms.

First Anniversary 

As the first anniversary of the opening approached, the deacons fixed the first weekend in May as an annual Beulah Home Weekend, but the next meeting changed this to the second weekend, which then became standard. The first Anniversary began on Saturday afternoon, 11 May 1957, with a Garden Party at the Home, and the proceedings were ‘signed’ to 30 deaf and dumb attenders. There was again a marquee, with a thanksgiving service, solos and speeches. The Sunday services continued the theme, and there was also a Monday evening Thankoffering Rally, with a distinguished guest preacher. John McGuinness was about to leave Edinburgh with his wife, to make their home near their daughter in Essex, and he was presented with a mahogany standard lamp, and his wife with flowers. In the ten years since the appeal was launched, over £8,000 had been given, and the Home had opened fee of debt.

In June 1957, Miss Watson, the cook, had to resign for health reasons.  At that point there were ten residents, with another due shortly and a further application on the horizon.  The plan was to build up to a total of fifteen. 

Second convenor

Mr Tregunna took over from Tom Sim as Secretary in April 1957, and when John McGuinness left Edinburgh, shortly after that, Robert Hadden was appointed Convenor in December 1957.

The second Christmas, 1957, is described in detail in the Record, 1958, p. 25 – three lots of carol singers, decorations, committee and wives on Christmas morning, Griffiths’ family, Sana Claus, dinner, Queen’s speech, quiet evening. The second anniversary, 1958, is described in detail in the Record, 1958, pp. 77, 92. The offering was £434.

For the year 1958, the fees paid by the residents did not meet the running costs, which included £300 for installing a lavatory and toilet facilities in order to make the top flat usable, so it was agreed to continue the Annual Thankoffering as a necessity to keep the Home going. However, when the books were closed for the year 1959, Beulah had almost paid its own way, without the Thankoffering. This was on the basis that residents would have to pay half of the charge when they were away on holiday, except for the first week, for which nothing was payable, rising to the full charge if they were away for more than four weeks. This was because oncosts were incurred whether the room was occupied or not.

For the third anniversary, there was a Garden Party with a marquee, on the afternoon of Saturday 9 May 1959, with songs and speeches at 3 p.m. and tea at 4. It was a beautiful day, and the flaps of marquee needed to be opened for the crowd to hear. Full details are in the Record. The top flat was now in use, and there were 13 residents. The committee were looking for £400 for refurbishment. There were offerings on the Sunday, then the minister and some of the elders were in the vestry on Monday from 3 p.m., until the rally at 7.30, with a guest speaker, and the area of the church was full.

Miss Irene Nattrass, the resident cook, left in June 1960 to work in a Leeds University hostel, and then went to Canada. In July 1960, a new cook, Mrs. Paterson, a Christian, and her husband, took up residence in the cottage of the Home.
 In June 1963, a member of the Chapel, Miss Bowman, took over as cook. 

There are full details in the Record of the 1960 Anniversary, from Saturday 7 to Monday 9 May.
 At the end of 1960, Gerald Griffiths was concerned for the spiritual welfare of residents who were not able to attend Chapel services. He suggested that a service might be held in the Home on the afternoon of the first Sunday in every month, with the elders taking turns to arrange the meeting as they thought best. In addition, other groups, such as the Faith Mission Pilgrims, were to be encouraged to lead occasional meetings.

The 1961 Anniversary followed the same pattern as earlier years, with a Garden Party on Saturday afternoon, with a guest speaker and soloist, both services on the Sunday and a Final Rally, again with a guest speaker and with music from the Church Choir, on the Monday, after the committee had been in the vestry from 3 p.m. to 7 p.m. for Thankoffering gifts. The total was £331, an advance of £30 on the previous year. 

In January 1962, a new admissions policy was agreed with the deacons’ court, namely: ‘the Homes (sic) are for elderly persons of both sexes, who must have been in membership of Charlotte Chapel (1) for at least two years immediately preceding the date of application or (2) for a minimum period of five years, immediately prior to removal (a) from Edinburgh or (b) to another Baptist Church in Edinburgh for reasons of age after attainment of 60th birthday.’

The 1962 Anniversary, Saturday 12 to Monday 14 May, was particularly fully reported in the Record, which gives an excellent description of the Garden Party, the Sunday services and the Monday Evening Rally.

In April 1963, Miss Innes resigned as matron, in order to fulfil a long-standing promise to keep house for her nephew when he took up his first pastorate.  She had given seven years of devoted and sacrificial service to the Home.  Miss Francis Dawson, S.R.N., was appointed at a salary in the region of £400 pounds, with one month’s holiday and occasional weekends off.

She told the congregation that although she had been brought up in a respectable home, it was not a Christian family. She had gone to church and had been confirmed, but she had never heard the gospel.  She took up nursing in Birmingham, and walking through the city, she saw an advertisement for ‘Birmingham Youth for Christ’. She was amazed at the vast crowd of young people, and went back during Holy Week, 1949.  She went forward for conversion and then discovered that an old friend had been praying for her for five years. She joined the Chapel, on coming to Edinburgh, by transfer from the Dereham Baptist Church.

After the office-bearers elections in April 1965, Robert Hadden did not wish to continue as Convener; Robert Aitken became Convener and Tom Sim became Secretary/Treasurer.
 The charges increased from 4 guineas a week to 5 guineas from 1 June 1965. The committee reminded the membership, during the tenth anniversary celebrations in May 1966, that the Home was intended for both men and women, although no male member had ever applied. There were two vacancies and anyone aged 60 or over was encouraged to apply.

Miss Dawson resigned in July 1966, to the great regret of the committee, as she felt called to other Christian service. 
 Miss Beaton stood in until a new matron, Mrs. Cohen, started at the beginning of June 1967. The May 1967 Garden Party was attended by about two hundred, with the minister of St. Giles Cathedral as the guest speaker, and the offerings over the weekend totalled £662. By October, Mrs. Cohen found it was too much, and resigned. 

At December 1967, there was no permanent matron and no cook.  Mrs Macmillan acted as matron, with Miss Smith standing in during her holidays, and Chapel women assisted with cooking meals. Mrs Macmillan was the Santa Claus for Christmas 1967.
 The vacancy continued until November 1968, when Mrs E.B. Keely, who had a nursing background, was appointed matron. 

The land-line relay to Beulah from the Chapel, for Sunday and other services, started on Easter Sunday 1968, and reception was very good.

There were substantial internal alterations to the building in the spring of 1968.
 The first landline was installed in April 1969, in time for Easter Sunday, after which the Sunday services and any special occasions were heard in the Home.

In 1970, there was no Garden Party, but the Saturday of the anniversary was celebrated in the Chapel’s Lower Hall, which, it was said, people preferred.
 The Thankoffering was £760. Miss Francis Dawson, who had formerly been the matron, came back to Edinburgh in 1970, as the first matron of the newly opened Tor. In March 1972, after the Chapel had been looking for some time for a matron, Miss Lydia Buncis was appointed.
 During the vacancy, Mrs Macmillan again filled the breach

There was not much contact between the committee, on behalf of the Home, and the Chapel during the first years of the 1970s, due in part to the absence of a matron. However, the policy was reversed in 1975, when the committee opened the Home and grounds and encouraged visitors for the whole of the week prior to the Anniversary Sunday, 10 a.m. to 12 noon on the Tuesday, Thursday and Saturday, 2 p.m. to 4 p.m. on the Wednesday, and 6 p.m. to 8 p.m. on the Friday.

The Beulah Committee continued to refuse all overtures from the deacons’ court to invite women to join the committee. After the election of the new committee in June 1975, they were pressed to give their reasons, and gave three: (1) that no matron had ever been in favour, (2) that it would make the committee too large and (3) ‘amicability’. They did, however, agree to invite the matron to attend the committee.
 At the annual Chapel business meeting in April 1977, a motion was passed that three women members should be appointed to serve on the committee, and the deacons arranged for this.
 

In October 1975, the Chapel was again advertising for a new matron; again Mrs Macmillan helped out, but she would not make it a permanent appointment, as she wished to relinquish her post as soon as a suitable replacement could be found. A new cook had been appointed and was proving satisfactorily.

In October 1976, Miss Rae Moore, who was working in Bury St Edmunds, was appointed, to take up her duties in January 1977.  She was a lady in middle age, with nursing qualifications and experience in nursing the elderly.  Her background was in the Church of Scotland and her Christian outlook was evangelical.

The twentieth anniversary was celebrated in 1976, when there was accommodation for 14 residents, all in single rooms, and a full-time resident staff of three. The Sunday and the midweek services from the Chapel were relayed to Beulah. A communion service was held on the first Monday of every month. It was, however, becoming apparent that the original concept of Beulah was no longer fulfilling the needs of the older members of the congregation.  It was never the intention to provide ‘nursing care’, but as more and more people wished to live in their own homes, for as long as possible, they came into Beulah when they were increasingly frail, so the whole policy was in the melting pot.

In April 1977 the committee proposed an extension to the rear, to provide four additional bedrooms with a covered passageway. Accommodation at that time was described in detail in a report to the Deacons’ Court in November 1979. Work started in November 1979, to be completed by the summer of 1980.
 There was a serious dispute with the contractor about the quality of the work done. Just how badly it was done did not become apparent until 2001. Increasingly foul smells from the drains led to excavation along the whole length of them. It was discovered that the contractor, who was meant to take the sewage from the new extension to the main public drain under Newhaven Road, at the front, had gone the other way and left the pipe to discharge into the garden at the rear. Scottish Water demanded that a proper connection be made, at very considerable expense. Fortunately the writer, who had acted for the Chapel in the 1980 dispute, had retained the certificate of completion; it showed the pipe as it was meant to be laid, and the City Engineer had stamped the plans as ‘passed’ – obviously without doing a physical check. Scottish Water took one look at the certificate and carried out the work entirely at their expense, including landscaping the back garden from which the offending pipe had to be removed.

Late in 1978, Mrs Hume of East Kilbride became matron for a trial period. She resigned in January 1980, having suffered a great deal of ill health. In 1979, it was still had a condition of admission as a resident that the applicant had been in membership of the Chapel for at least two years.  The minister of the Granton Baptist Church had arranged for one of his lady members to be admitted temporarily to Beulah, pending acceptance by another Home.  However, she fitted in so well that both she and the committee wished her to remain. Since there was no Chapel member on the waiting list, the elders waved the two-year rule, and authorised the lady’s immediate membership of the Chapel, so that she could stay.

In November 1979, Miss Heather Robson started as cook, but obviously did not last for long, because in October 1980, ‘Miss Joyce Langley, a Christian lady from Hertfordshire [was] appointed as cook.’
 She and a friend, Grace, occupied the ‘cottage’, at the side of the Home, for as long as she was the cook. By October 1980, the annexe was complete, but despite much searching, no new matron had been appointed and there seemed to be no prospect of getting one.
 A matron appointed in March 1981 had to be asked to leave in October 1981. In November 1981, the deacons’ court asked one of the Chapel elders, Alex Cameron, to look into the running of Beulah Home. He reported in detail in the following month, and he was asked to take over as Convener and to choose a new committee, which he did.  It adopted a different policy on many basic matters.
 

Miss Mabel McLean started as matron in February 1982 and was an excellent leader until her resignation in April 1987, when she was succeeded by Miss Margaret Roxburgh. 

The first of several extremely successful holiday weeks, for the residents, was held in the last week of May 1982, to Netherhall, Largs. Sufficient staff, helpers and drivers went with them, to provide support and transport for the week. In 1986 and 1987, they went to Kilravock Castle, near Inverness, where the former Chapel assistant and his wife, George and Violet Smith, were wardens. This continued until the ladies were too frail to be able to stay overnight, and two or three daily outings replaced the week away.

On 24 July 1990, Miss Sarah Hudson celebrated her hundredth birthday in Beulah, and hand-wrote a letter of appreciation to the Chapel for the congratulations sent to her.

In 1991, Margaret Roxburgh was ably assisted by Miss Irene Gillies as Deputy Matron, and Miss Sarah Hudson celebrated her hundredth birthday in the Home.

In February 1992, the Beulah Committee submitted their regular review to the deacons’ court. The committee consisted of John Shepherd, Ann Shepherd, Joyce Balfour, Tess Wilson, George Nash, Dorothy Nash, Shaun Gordon, Alex Cameron, Andrew Robertson and matron. Dr Gordon McAndrew had resigned from the committee in the past year, but continued to attend to residents as required. A building warrant was awaited for joining the main building to the adjacent cottage, which provided two additional bedrooms. A new fire had been installed in the Lounge. Some attention has been paid to the flue on the gas boiler. Some decoration has been carried out and some new carpets provided. There was a small waiting list. David Fairley continued to carry out handyman duties and Douglas Lawrence had begun fetching supplies in bulk from a cash and carry.
 

In 1993, Beulah had 15 residents, all in single rooms. Margaret Roxburgh retired and Diane Biddulph became manager in November 1992/3. Andrew Robertson resigned as treasurer, and was replaced by George Harley in December. Others on the committee were John Shepherd, chairman, Joyce Balfour, George and Dorothy Nash, Tess Wilson, Alex Cameron, Shaun Gordon and Ann Shepherd. ‘With standards always increasing and inspections twice a year by the authorities we have spent considerable time making necessary changes. These changes have included refurbishment of the cottage attached to the main building, fire precautions kept up to date, brochure to be printed, staffing levels and rotas constantly examined, care plans introduced, induction packs for new staff and even the introduction of a formal complaints procedure. It is our aim to keep Beulah as a comfortable home for all who live there.’ (1993 Annual Report)

The new conservatory was built in 1994, to replace the old one.

The convener reported to the deacons’ court in May 1997 that:

Inspection. A recent inspection report concluded that Beulah was a well-established home providing a happy atmosphere and a high standard of care for the residents .Some of the residents had been interviewed and they were all very positive about the efforts of the staff and the care they received.
Open Days. The Open Day held earlier that day (Wednesday) had not been well attended, less than 20 visitors. The Saturday had always proved the busier of the two Open Days held annually and consideration would be given to only holding one Open Day in 1998, probably the Saturday.
A leaflet, ‘Welcome to Beulah’, had been recently produced. 
The percentage of residents who are Chapel members continues to reduce. No Chapel members had been turned down.  The current situation is that there is less need for this type of care and has resulted in the situation that for Beulah to remain full, it needs to be open to a wider catchment than solely members of the Chapel.
On the subject of varying levels of care needed, Beulah had an arrangement with the Tor to combine their resources in such a way as to best use their complementary expertise. He also pointed out that at peak times, additional nursing staff are brought in if the normal staffing are not able to cope with the nursing care needs. Two of the five staff were qualified nurses.
Given the reasonably healthy financial situation at present, a question was raised as to the need for the forthcoming Beulah Sunday offering to further increase the Beulah funds, at a time when other funds, e.g. Missionary, were not in so healthy a situation. The convener pointed out that the current financial state was largely due to two legacies. The annual offering was used to ensure the day-to-day expenses were covered but also longer term plans could be funded.

BEULAH HOME: FUTURE PLANS

The Chairman and Management Committee or Beulah Home have recently been considering future plans for the Home. We have been concerned that, while the Home is only equipped to care for residents to a Part 4 stage of care, sometimes residents are being kept beyond that stage in the Home into the nursing care phase of care.

The Chairman has recently investigated the matter with the Local Authority Social Work Department and the Medical Authorities. Their views have been that the rooms in the Home are too small to allow the Home to become ‘dual registered’ (i.e. capable of keeping residents during the Part 4 stage of care and then on into the nursing care phase of care). A new fire escape would probably be required together with a lift and ramp access/vertical lifts. Hoist space would be required in the toilets.

The requirements and regulations for a nursing home are the same as dual registration in order to be feasible, a new building would be required. The Committee have been advised that the present site could be sold for between £200,000 and £250,000 and that demolition of the present building would cost approximately £50,000. In order to be viable, the new building seeking registration would require approximately 40 beds, but viability might be possibly be maintained at a bottom-line figure of 30 beds. The costings for such a building would come in at approximately £25,000 to £30,000 per bed. This would present a scale of expenditure which would, in the Committee’s view, be prohibitive. If we opened a nursing home there would be real concern that we would not be able to fill 30 beds and any such new Home would continually be operating at a substantial deficit. The other option would be for the Home to seek ‘joint registration’. This would involve the Home offering rooms to residents on the present basis and converting other rooms to a standard suitable for nursing care. The difficulty with this option is that it would involve moving residents from their own rooms once the nursing care threshold was reached, thereby possibly causing distress to them. Further, the financial implications, while not being as enormous as for dual registration, would still be on a scale that the Committee consider to be prohibitive.

The Committee have further been concerned that out of the present occupancy of 15 residents, there are presently only eight or nine Church members in the Home. The Home is viewed by the Social Work Department Inspector as one of the best in Edinburgh. A visit to the Home by any member would, we hope, confirm that view! The Committee would welcome input from any member in relation to any of the matters discussed in this article.

---------      

The writer was asked to become the convenor of the Beulah Committee in May 2000, on his retrial as church secretary. The manager, Diane Biddulph, wished to end her duties at the end of 2002, so the following advertisement was placed in the nursing and general press:

Charlotte Baptist Chapel seeks a Manager for its Care Home, ‘Beulah’, accomodating 15 residents in the Newhaven district of Edinburgh. The ideal candidate will have a strong Christian faith, possess S.V. level 4 or R.G.N. or social work or equivalent qualification, and be able to cope with significant managerial aspects as well as care responsibilities. Salary according to experience and qualifications. Regulations prohibit the Manager from continuing to practise as a qualified nurse. Further particulars on request by letter, phone or e-mail to the Charlotte Chapel Office, 13 South Charlotte Street, Edinburgh EH2 4AZ, phone 0131 225 4812, E-mail ‘info@charlottechapel.org’, marked “Beulah Manager”.

The successful applicant was Mrs Margaret Lindsell, who had a background in management as well as nursing, and she started on 1 January 2003. 
By the spring of 2006, it was apparent (for the reasons set out in the following statement) that the Home had no long-term future. Accordingly, the following statement was agreed with the Chapel elders and then read to a meeting of the residents, their relatives and their professional advisers. The response was generally positive, and the committee are working toward that end as this book goes to print.

The long-term future of Beulah Home – statement on 7 April 2006

This meeting has been called to start a discussion on the long-term future of Beulah Home. It is hoped that the Home will remain as it is for this year, for next year, for the year after that, and for the year after that again. It is the long-term future that needs to be addressed. A full copy of this statement is available for all residents, relatives, friends, professional advisers and staff, and all comments are welcome.  

Beulah Home is owned and managed by Charlotte Chapel, and the elders have asked the Beulah Committee to consult widely, without pressure on time, about the future. The committee is not looking for immediate answers, or decisions; the more who contribute to the consultation, the better.  There are six reasons for raising this delicate matter at this stage. 

1. Beulah was opened, 50 years ago, as a home for elderly members of Charlotte Chapel. The Chapel’s pastoral team report that there is no likelihood of any applications in the foreseeable future; its raison d’etre seems to have disappeared. Whenever there have been no Chapel members on the waiting list, it has been a privilege and an enrichment to have Christians from other churches come in; in a small community like Beulah, it is essential that residents are sympathetic to the Christian ethos of the Home. If, however, no more Chapel members wish to be resident here, should Beulah continue indefinitely?

2. Social services policy is to provide ‘care in the community’ until people require hospital or nursing home care.  Beulah is not a nursing home, and, for reasons to be mentioned in the next paragraph, never could be a nursing home.  There has been a vacant room for over 18 months, and although the committee have made this known far and wide, nearly all the inquiries have come from the relatives of those who, it turns out, need full nursing home care. Beulah’s traditional market is being looked after by family or by social services until people are at a stage when only a nursing home can provide for them.

3. The Care Commission have laid down stringent new standards (minimum size of rooms, en-suite facilities for every bedroom, etc) that come into force in 2008. Beulah could never be adapted to meet these standards. The Commission have said (in a gentleman’s agreement) that they recognise the exceptionally high standard of care delivered in Beulah and that they will not seek to close the Home, as long as their inspectors are satisfied with it.  On the other hand, if any structural alteration was proposed, the full weight of the new regulations would be applied. This building is increasingly unsuitable for people who are heavily dependent on staff for assistance. However, any building work, to introduce better facilities, would not be permitted unless (and this is impossible) the Commission’s new standards were met throughout.

4.  Beulah is not run for profit, but it is subject to market forces. As mentioned, there has been a vacant room for over 18 months. No Home like this is viable in the long-term without reasonably full occupancy. ‘Outlook’, which is the local name for Abbeyfield Homes in Edinburgh, has found that there is no longer a demand for their traditional accommodation, so they are putting their resources into purpose-built sheltered housing. If future generations – not you, the present occupants, who are here already – do not want to come into a Home like this, then it will not be able to meet its running costs. 

5. The fifth reason is by far the most compelling one, for calling a meeting at this time. There are two applicants – not Chapel members – for two of the three vacant rooms. It would not be fair to let them come in, and to encourage them to make this their home, without telling them about the long-term prospects; the four problems just mentioned are not going to go away. The committee must be open with those who are now applying to come in. As long as the Home is here, applications will be encouraged, but it would be unfair to new applicants to say nothing about the long-term prospects. If they are given our best assessment about the future, they can decide whether to come in or not.

6. This year is the jubilee – the fiftieth anniversary – of the opening of Beulah Home. Some of you may have seen an article about it in the current issue of the Chapel magazine. On Sunday 12 May, the manager and I are going to give a short presentation to the whole church, entitled ‘Then and Now’ – how the Home started and where it is today. We do not intend to say anything publicly about the future of the Home, but it would not be right to lead a celebration and thanksgiving, knowing that the facts outlined in this statement, without having an answer for anyone who asks, ‘what about the future?’ It is better to make this statement now, to those of you who are involved, so that we can be open and honest with anyone who asks, ‘how do you see the future?’.

That is the end of the six reasons. The committee reported the position to the elders of Charlotte Chapel, because, as mentioned, the Home is owned by the Chapel. Day-to-day running is delegated by the church to a committee, the Beulah Committee, but ultimate responsibility lies with the church. The elders asked the committee how they saw the future. The committee responded that they have two responsibilities. Their primary responsibility is to those who have made Beulah their home; the committee would not consider anything that was likely to cause unnecessary anxiety or uncertainty in the minds of the residents. Family worship twice a day, land-line transmission of Chapel services, and all the other areas which have made Beulah ‘special’ in the past, must be maintained as long as they are appreciated by those who are existing residents here. On the other hand, the committee have a second responsibility, to people who enquire, now, about coming into the Home; they are entitled to know exactly what the Home has to offer. 

So where does that leave us? The committee said to the elders that they could, and would, maintain the Home, as at present, until at least the summer of the year 2010, that is just over four years from now. Charlotte Chapel elects, or re-elects, its leadership every five years – 2005, 2010 and so on.  In the summer of 2010, there will be a new leadership team, so that seems an obvious point for further decisions. As mentioned, the elders asked the Beulah Committee to consult with the existing residents and their relatives, to listen carefully to what was said, and to report back to the elders.

This meeting is therefore the first step in consulting with you.  You will probably not wish to say anything today, but members of the committee will be available, over the next few weeks, to discuss things with you. Once we clearly understand your feelings about the whole position, the committee will report to the elders and then to the church, with whom the final decision lies. 

Just to reiterate, the committee hopes that Beulah will continue, in its present form, for at least four years, until the summer of the year 2010; any new residents, who wish to come on that understanding, will be welcomed. The committees hope that nothing said today will cause any one here to be unduly concerned about their immediate future in the Home.

On behalf of the Beulah Committee, which is:

Sharon Arthurson, Ian Balfour (Chairman), Joyce Balfour, Les Bell (Treasurer), George Haig, Sheila Landels, Rodney Stout and Adrian Todd.

Mrs Margaret Lindsell encountered health problems, which became acute in August 2007. In September she agreed that the Committee should seek a replacement, for the remaining years of Beulah’s existence, and that is under discussion.

--------------------

Mr. McGuinness described the acquisition as follows.

During the difficult years between 1940 and 1947 when it seemed that the whole world had grown dark and our days were crowded with so many things, I became very concerned about the old people of our church. It seemed that we did not hear about some of them until it was almost too late, sometimes they were dead, and I felt a great tugging at my heart to do something about it.

It was not until 1947 that I answered the call and one night at a Deacons' Court meeting I tabled a motion to empower us to start a fund – which would eventually become the 'House' fund.
 Mr. William Brown, who was then the Church Treasurer, seconded the motion and there was no amendment, so there and then a committee was formed. Mr. Urquhart, the Church Secretary, in his manner, which is dear and familiar to all of us, said ‘Mr. McGuinness, this is your pigeon – you must be the convener’, and I in my turn agreed to this on condition that he and Mr. Brown would join with me to form the nucleus of the ‘Homes Committee’. This they did ...

We started out on the road in 1947 with the feeling that if God was with us, no power on earth could succeed against us. The first step we took was the raising of money to establish the fund, in this and the committee stood together and pulled together. Musical evenings with speakers were arranged. ...

There were, too, the tea parties. Here the ladies of the congregation were lavish with their gifts and support. ...  As the ‘House’ fund grew, and the occasions increased, the band of ladies who gave their assistance also grew. Those connected with the committee and those who supported them, one and all, worked with a willing heart, and I may say, they enjoyed their work as much as their efforts were enjoyed.

The money which came in to us from the beginning was wonderful, there are many people who gave large donations, some of whom were not even members of our church; many more gave smaller sums, but all gave as unto the Lord, and the smaller donations weighed heavily in the final balance. I may be forgiven for mentioning two names, our dear late deaconess Miss Boyle, who left us a sum of money in her Will, and our former pastor, Rev. Sidlow Baxter, who donated part of his salary to us during his absence in New Zealand.
 The gifts great and small were so sustained that the fund grew by nearly a thousand pounds as each year passed. Each year there was a special weekend service at the church for the ‘Home’ followed by a ‘Thank-offering’ at a rally held on the following Monday evening. A good measure of the success of these meetings for the last three years is owed to our present pastor Rev. Gerald Griffiths.

In 1955 the committee thought it was time to look around for a suitable house to purchase. I will not worry you with the difficulties which beset us in our search and the many anxious moments which we lived through. In the end a decision was reached to purchase ‘Beaufort’, Newhaven Road, Leith, the former home of Baillie Gerard. The purchase was the beginning of a new chapter in which our efforts were concentrated on making Beaufort into the Beulah Home. Moreover, a matron had to be found, this seemed a further problem but again the matter lay in God's hand and Miss Innes has proved to be the right person.

The task of furnishing and making ready the home for its occupants was taken over by matron and her committee. She herself will write you an account of this. The furnishings and furniture came freely to us from all parts – everybody worked to one end, the opening of the Home. We were indebted to Mr. Urquhart for clearing many legal points and Mr. Aitken for all his encouragement and help as treasurer and general wise guidance.

At last the great day dawned, 30th June 1956. It is one of the brightest and happiest of the many memories of my 81 years. So many of our friends and helpers were gathered together for this day whilst Rev. Griffiths held a dedication service outside the front door. Then Mrs. Griffiths graciously completed the opening ceremony by inserting the key in the door and the culminating point of ten years work was reached.

The House was declared open and visitors were escorted through it, before a service was held in a marquee on the lawn.

The House has been open one year and it is indeed a Home in every sense of the word. If I have missed anyone by name, I must say there were so many who helped that I could go on with names and fill many pages. But I have come to an end of my story. The Beulah Home will be carried on with God's help and for those who live in it, it will be a resting place between earth and heaven for many years.

-------------------------

John McGuinness and his wife both died in Essex, where they had gone to live with their daughter, in August 1964, and a memorial service was held in the Chapel.
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